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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE S
COMMISSION, §
S
Plaintiff, §

§ Civil Action No. 3:08-Cv-2050-D
VS. N
S
MARK CUBAN, )
N
Defendant. §

MEMORANDUM OPINION
AND ORDER

The dispositive question presented by defendant Mark Cuban’s
(“Cuban’s”) motion to dismiss is whether plaintiff Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has adequately alleged that Cuban
undertook a duty of non-use of information required to establish
liability under the misappropriation theory of insider trading.
Concluding that it has not, the court grants Cuban’s motion to
dismiss, but it also allows the SEC to replead.

I
A

This is a suit brought by the SEC against Cuban under the
misappropriation theory of insider trading. The SEC alleges that,
after Cuban agreed to maintain the confidentiality of material,
nonpublic information concerning a planned private investment in

public equity (“PIPE”) offering by Mamma.com Inc. (“Mamma.com”),*®

'In June 2007 Mamma.com changed its name to Copernic Inc. The
court will refer to the company as Mamma.com, by which it was known
at all times relevant to this litigation.
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he sold his stock in the company without first disclosing to
Mamma.com that he intended to trade on this information, thereby
avoiding substantial losses when the stock price declined after the
PIPE was publicly announced. The SEC maintains that Cuban is
liable for wviolating § 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
(“Securities Act”), § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.?
According to the SEC’s complaint, in March 2004 Cuban
purchased 600,000 shares, or a 6.3% stake, in Mamma.com, a Canadian
company that operated an Internet search engine and traded on the
NASDAQ. In the spring of 2004, Mamma.com decided to raise capital
through a PIPE offering. As the PIPE offering progressed toward
closing, the company decided to inform Cuban, its then-largest
known shareholder, of the offering and to invite him to
participate. The CEO of Mamma.com spoke with Cuban by telephone.
The CEO prefaced the call by informing Cuban
that he had confidential information to convey
to him, and Cuban agreed that he would keep
whatever information the CEO intended to share
with him confidential. The CEO, in reliance
on Cuban’s agreement to keep the information

confidential, proceeded to tell Cuban about
the PIPE offering.

“The court will focus its discussion and analysis on § 10 (b)
and Rule 10b-5 because the parties agree that § 17(a) is “routinely
examined . . . under the same standards” as these provisions. D.
Br. 7 n.6. See, e.qg., Landry v. All Am. Assurance Co., 688 F.2d
381, 386 (5th Cir. 1982) (“Rule 10b-5, adopted under § 10 (b) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, is substantially identical to
S 17(a).”).
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Compl. 9 14. As Mamma.com “anticipated,” Cuban reacted angrily to
this news, stating that he did not like PIPE offerings because they
dilute the existing shareholders. Id. at { 15. At the end of the
call Cuban said: “Well, now I’m screwed. I can’'t sell.” Id. at
 14. Two internal company emails quoted in the complaint indicate
that the executive chairman of Mamma.com may have expected that
Cuban would not sell his shares until after the PIPE was announced.
See 1id. at 1 15 (“[Cuban] said he would sell his shares
(recognizing that he was not able to do anything until we announce
the equity)[.]1”); id. at 9 20 (“[Cuban’s] answers were: he would
not invest, he does not want the company to make acquisitions, he
will sell his shares which he can not [sic] do until after we
announce.”) .

Several hours after they spoke by telephone, the CEO sent
Cuban a follow-up email in which he provided contact information
for the investment bank conducting the offering, in case Cuban
wanted more information about the PIPE. Cuban then contacted the
sales representative, who “supplied Cuban with additional
confidential details about the PIPE.” Id. at 9 17. One minute
after ending this call, Cuban telephoned his broker and directed
the broker to sell all 600,000 of his Mamma.com shares. The broker
sold a small amount of the shares during after-hours trading on
June 28, 2004, and sold the remainder during regular trading hours

on June 29, 2004. Cuban did not inform Mamma.com of his intention
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to trade on the information that he had been given in confidence
and that he had agreed to keep confidential. See id. at 9 25
(“Cuban never disclosed to Mamma.com that he was going to sell his
shares prior to the public announcement of the PIPE.”). After the
markets had closed on June 29, 2004, Mamma.com publicly announced
the PIPE offering. Trading 1in the company’s stock opened
substantially lower the next day and continued to decline in the
days following. Cuban avoided losses in excess of $750,000 by
selling his shares prior to the public announcement of the PIPE.
After the sale, Cuban filed the required disclosure statement with
the SEC and “publicly stated that he had sold his Mamma.com shares
because the company was conducting a PIPE[.]” Id.

Based on Cuban’s alleged violation of § 17(a) of the
Securities Act, § 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5, the
SEC seeks a permanent injunction against future wviolations,
disgorgement of losses avoided, prejudgment interest, and
imposition of a civil monetary penalty.

B

Cuban, supported by five law professors as amici curiae, moves
to dismiss the complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b) (6) for failure
to state a claim on which relief can be granted, and under Rule

9(b) for failing to plead fraud with particularity.’ Cuban

*Although Cuban moves to dismiss under Rule 9 (b) and addresses
that standard in his brief, he does not specify how the SEC’s
complaint is deficient under Rule 9(b) in any respect that is

- 4 -
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maintains that, to establish liability for insider trading, the SEC
must demonstrate that his conduct was deceptive under § 10(b),
which he asserts the SEC has not done under the facts pleaded.
Specifically, Cuban contends that the SEC has alleged merely that
he entered into a confidentiality agreement, which is of itself
insufficient to establish misappropriation theory liability because
the agreement must arise in the context of a preexisting fiduciary
or fiduciary-1like relationship, or create a relationship that bears
all the hallmarks of a traditional fiduciary relationship; the
existence of a fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship is governed
exclusively by state law and, under Texas law, the facts pleaded do
not demonstrate that he had such a relationship with Mamma.com;
even if the court applies federal common law, the facts pleaded
still fail to show such a relationship; and the SEC cannot rely on
Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) to supply the requisite duty because the Rule
applies only in the context of family or personal relationships,
and, 1if the Rule does create 1liability in the absence of a

preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship, it exceeds

distinct from what he asserts to be lacking under Rule 12(b) (6).
To the extent his Rule 12 (b) (6) and Rule 9(b) arguments merge, they
are discussed together infra. Assuming arguendo that Cuban relies
on a distinct argument to contend that the complaint lacks the
particularity that Rule 9(b) requires, the court rejects the
argument. Rule 9(b) requires that fraud be pleaded “with
particularity,” which requires specification of facts analogous to
those in “the first paragraph of any newspaper story, namely the
who, what, when, where, and how.” Melder v. Morris, 27 F.3d 1097,
1100 n.5 (5th Cir. 1994). The court holds that the complaint is
sufficiently particular to satisfy Rule 9(b).

- 5 -
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the SEC’s § 10(b) rulemaking authority and cannot be applied
against him.
IT
Under Rule 8(a) (2), a pleading must contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to
relief.” While “the pleading standard Rule 8 announces does not

r”

require ‘detailed factual allegations,’ it demands more than

“‘labels and conclusions.’” Ashcroft v. Igbal,  U.s.  , 129
S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (gquoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550
U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). And “‘a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not do.’” Id. (quoting Bell
Atl., 550 U.S. at 555).

In deciding a Rule 12 (b) (6) motion to dismiss for failure to
state a claim, “[t]lhe ‘court accepts all well-pleaded facts as
true, viewing them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.’”
In re Katrina Canal Breaches Litig., 495 F.3d 191, 205 (5th Cir.
2007) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Martin K. Eby
Constr. Co. v. Dallas Area Rapid Transit, 369 F.3d 464, 467 (5th
Cir. 2004)). To survive the motion, a plaintiff must plead “enough
facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”
Bell Atl., 550 U.S. at 570). ™A claim has facial plausibility when
the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw

the reasonable inference that the defendant is 1liable for the

misconduct alleged.” Igbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1949. “The plausibility
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standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks
for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted
unlawfully.” Id.; see also Bell Atl., 550 U.S. at 555 (“Factual
allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the
speculative level[.]”). “[Wlhere the well-pleaded facts do not
permit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of
misconduct, the complaint has alleged—Dbut it has not ‘shown’—that
the pleader is entitled to relief.” Igbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1950
(quoting Rule 8 (a) (2) (alteration omitted)).
IT1I
A
Section 10 (b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful
for any person, directly or indirectly, by the
use of any means or instrumentality of
interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any
facility of any national securities exchange—
[t]o use or employ, in connection with
the purchase or sale of any security . . . any
manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules and
regulations as the Commission may prescribe as
necessary oOr appropriate in the public
interest or for the protection of investors.
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).
Rule 10b-5, promulgated pursuant to the SEC’'s § 10(b)

rulemaking authority, provides:
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It shall be unlawful for any person, directly
or indirectly, by the use of any means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of
the mails or of any facility of any national
securities exchange,

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice
to defraud,

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material
fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary 1in order to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course
of business which operates or would operate as

a fraud or deceit upon any person,

in connection with the purchase or sale of any
security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2009).

The law of insider trading is not based on a federal statute
expressly prohibiting the practice; it has instead developed
through SEC and judicial interpretations of § 10(b)’s prohibition

* conduct and Rule 10b-5’s antifraud provisions. The

of “deceptive”
SEC, in In re Cady, Roberts & Co, 40 S.E.C. 907 (1961), and the
Supreme Court, in Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 227-30

(1980), first recognized the “traditional” or “classical” theory of

‘“Manipulative,” as used in § 10(b), is a narrow “‘term of
art.’”” Regents of the Univ. of Ca. v. Credit Suisse First Boston
(USA), Inc., 482 F.3d 372, 390 (5th Cir. 2007) (quoting Ernst &
Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 (1976)). It “refers
generally to practices, such as wash sales, matched orders, or
rigged ©prices, that are 1intended to mislead investors by
artificially affecting market activity.” Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v.
Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977).
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insider trading liability. Under this theory, “§ 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 are violated when a corporate insider trades in the
securities of his corporation on the basis of material, nonpublic
information.” United States v. O0O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 651-52
(1997) (citing Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 228). Liability is premised
on the “relationship of +trust and confidence between the
shareholders of a corporation and those insiders who have obtained
confidential information by reason of their position with that
corporation.” Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 228. This relationship gives
rise to a “duty to disclose” confidential information prior to
trading. Id.

In O’Hagan the Supreme Court expanded the scope of insider
trading liability by recognizing the “misappropriation theory,”
which had been the subject of disagreement among lower courts.
“The ‘misappropriation theory’ holds that a person commits fraud
‘in connection with’ a securities transaction, and thereby violates
§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, when he misappropriates confidential
information for securities trading purposes, in breach of a duty
owed to the source of the information.” O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652.
The “undisclosed, self-serving use of a principal’s information to
purchase or sell securities, in breach of a duty of loyalty and
confidentiality, defrauds the principal of the exclusive use of
that information.” Id. “In lieu of premising liability on a

fiduciary relationship between company insider and purchaser or
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seller of the company’s stock, the misappropriation theory premises
liability on a fiduciary-turned-trader’s deception of those who
entrusted him with access to confidential information.” Id.
The two theories are complementary, each
addressing efforts to capitalize on nonpublic
information through the purchase or sale of
securities. The classical theory targets a
corporate insider’s breach of duty to
shareholders with whom the insider transacts;
the misappropriation theory outlaws trading on
the basis of nonpublic information by a
corporate “outsider” in breach of a duty owed
not to a trading party, but to the source of
the information.
Id. at 652-53.

The nature of the duty required to support misappropriation
theory liability is at the heart of the present case and Cuban’s
motion to dismiss. In 2000 the SEC adopted Rule 10b5-2, which
delineates certain circumstances that will give rise to a “duty of
trust or confidence” for purposes of the misappropriation theory.
Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) provides that “a ‘duty of trust or confidence’
exists . . . [w]henever a person agrees to maintain information in
confidence[.]"”

B

The SEC argues that, under Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) and the facts
pleaded in the complaint, it has stated a claim on which relief can
be granted. According to the SEC, Cuban is liable under the

misappropriation theory based on a duty created by his agreement to

keep confidential the information that Mamma.com’s CEO provided him
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about the impending PIPE offering. It posits that Cuban breached
this duty when, without disclosing to Mamma.com his intent to trade
in its stock based on the information, he sold his shares in the
company.

Cuban maintains that he is entitled to dismissal of this suit
because, to establish liability for insider trading, the SEC must
demonstrate that his conduct was deceptive under § 10(b), as
construed by the Supreme Court in Chiarella and O’Hagan, which
Cuban maintains the SEC has not done under the facts pleaded.
Cuban argues that the SEC has alleged merely that he entered into
a confidentiality agreement, and he posits that such an agreement
is of itself inadequate to establish misappropriation theory
liability. To be sufficient, he contends, the agreement must arise
in the context of a preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-1like
relationship, or create a relationship that bears all the hallmarks
of a traditional fiduciary relationship. He further maintains that
the existence of a fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship is
governed exclusively by state law; that, under applicable Texas
law, the facts pleaded do not demonstrate that he had such a
relationship with Mamma.com; and that even if the court applies
federal common law, the facts pleaded still fail to show such a
relationship. Finally, Cuban argues that the SEC cannot rely on
Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) to supply the requisite duty because, first, the

Rule applies only in the context of family or ©personal
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relationships, and, second, if the Rule does create liability based
on a mere confidentiality agreement in the absence of a preexisting
fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship, it exceeds the SEC’s
§ 10 (b) rulemaking authority and cannot be applied against him.
v

Because it affects the resolution of Cuban’s other arguments,
the court turns first to his contention that his liability under
the misappropriation theory depends on the existence of a
preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship, as determined
exclusively under applicable state law.

A

Cuban relies on this court’s opinion in Southwest Realty, Ltd.
v. Daseke, 1992 WL 373166, at *9-*10 (N.D. Tex. May 21, 1992)
(Fitzwater, J.), to support his contention that state law regarding
fiduciary and fiduciary-like relationships is the exclusive source
of the predicate duty for misappropriation theory liability. He
also posits that, unless the court derives the duty from state law
alone, its decision will violate the general rule—applied in cases
like Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 478-80
(1977)—against the creation of federal common law.

The SEC counters that no federal court has relied exclusively
on state law to determine whether a duty sufficient to support
misappropriation theory liability exists. It contends that were

the court to adopt a state-specific standard for deriving the duty,



Case 3:08-cv-02050-D Document 33  Filed 07/17/2009 Page 13 of 35

the decision would balkanize the misappropriation theory and lead
to divergent outcomes under the federal securities laws depending
on the state of jurisdiction in a particular insider trading case.
B

The court rejects Cuban’s contention that Southwest Realty
compels the conclusion that the existence of a duty sufficient to
support misappropriation theory liability is determined exclusively
under state law. In Southwest Realty the court followed the
conclusions of several appellate courts that “the federal
securities laws themselves are not the source of a duty of
disclosure. ‘Rather the duty to disclose material facts arises
only where there is some basis outside the securities laws, such as
state law, for finding a fiduciary or other confidential
relationship.’” Sw. Realty, 1992 WL 373166, at *10 (quoting
Fortson v. Winstead, McGuire, Sechrest & Minick, 961 F.2d 469 (4th
Cir. 1992)). Southwest Realty did not address insider trading or
the misappropriation theory, which the Supreme Court did not adopt
until several years later. Thus the court had no occasion to hold
that state law regarding fiduciary or similar relationships was the
only source of a duty to support liability under this theory.
Rather, in the factual and legal context presented, the court
simply followed settled precedent that provided that the federal
securities laws are not the source of a duty of disclosure, and

that such a duty must be found elsewhere, such as in state law.

- 13 -
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Moreover, although the source of a duty adequate to support
insider trading liability can be found in state law—this certainly
appears to be the case, for example, in O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652-53
(relying on attorney’s fiduciary duty to client)—it may be located
elsewhere without violating the general rule against creating
federal common law. The SEC can promulgate a rule that imposes
such a duty, provided the rule conforms with the SEC’s rulemaking
powers, such as those found in § 10(b) of the Exchange Act. In
doing so, the SEC does not create federal general common law.

(4

“Common law,” when discussed in cases that hold there is no federal
general common law, see, e.g., O’Melveny & Myers v. FDIC, 512 U.S.
79, 83 (1994) (citing Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64, 78
(1938)), means judge-made law. See Black’s Law Dictionary 293 (8th
ed.) (“"The body of law derived from judicial decisions, rather than
from statutes or constitutions[.]”). An agency regulation
promulgated under authority conferred by Congress is not judge-made
law. And in concluding below that an agreement with the proper
components can establish the duty necessary to support liability
under the misappropriation theory, the court 1is not creating
federal general common law. Because all states recognize and
enforce duties created by agreement, the court is essentially
relying on the state law of contracts to supply the requisite duty.

Finally, for reasons the court will explain in the next

section, it rejects Cuban’s contention that liability under the

- 14 -



Case 3:08-cv-02050-D Document 33  Filed 07/17/2009 Page 15 of 35

misappropriation theory depends on the existence of a preexisting
fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship.
\Y%

The court now considers whether, under the Supreme Court’s
precedents, breach of a legal duty arising by agreement can be the
basis for misappropriation theory liability, and, if so, what are
the essential components of the agreement.

A

In Chiarella the Court recognized the classical theory of
insider trading and explained that because insider trading
essentially involves the nondisclosure of information, it falls
within § 10(b)’s requirement of deception only if there is a duty
to disclose. See Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 231 (reasoning that
trading on material, nonpublic information is “not a fraud under
§$ 10(b)” unless the trader is under a duty to disclose); id. at 228
(“But one who fails to disclose material information prior to the
consummation of a transaction commits fraud only when he is under
a duty to do so.”); id. at 235 (“When an allegation of fraud is
based upon nondisclosure, there can be no fraud absent a duty to
speak.”). Further, the duty is not a general one but must arise
from “a specific relationship between two parties.” Id. at 233.
Chiarella unequivocally rejects a “parity-of-information”
principle, under which a disclosure duty would arise based on the

mere possession of material, nonpublic information. Id.

- 15 -
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Building on Chiarella, the Supreme Court concluded in O’Hagan
that, like the classical theory, the misappropriation theory also
involves deception within the meaning of § 10(b). O’Hagan teaches
that the essence of the misappropriation theory is the trader’s
undisclosed use of material, nonpublic information that is the
property of the source, in breach of a duty owed to the source to
keep the information confidential and not to use it for personal
benefit. See O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652 (“Under this theory, a
fiduciary’s undisclosed, self-serving wuse of a principal’s
information to purchase or sell securities, in breach of a duty of
loyalty and confidentiality, defrauds the ©principal of the
exclusive wuse of that information.”); id. at 656 (“[Tlhe
fiduciary’s fraud is consummated, not when the fiduciary gains the
confidential information, Dbut when, without disclosure to his
principal, he uses the information to purchase or sell
securities.”); see also 1id. at 655 (contrasting government’s
allegations in O’Hagan with Santa Fe because, in Santa Fe, “all
pertinent facts were disclosed by the persons charged with
violating § 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5; therefore, there was no deception
through nondisclosure to which liability under those provisions
could attach” (citation omitted)). Under the misappropriation
theory of insider trading, the deception flows from the
undisclosed, duplicitous nature of the breach. See id. at 653-54

("A fiduciary who ‘[pretends] loyalty to the principal while

- 16 -
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secretly converting the principal’s information for personal gain’
‘dupes’ or defrauds the principal.” (quoting Brief for United
States 17)); id. at 655 (“[Tlhe deception essential to the
misappropriation theory involves feigning fidelity to the source of
information[.]”).

O’Hagan states unmistakably that “[d]eception through
nondisclosure is central to [this] theory[.]” Id. at 654. And by
providing that a person can avoid misappropriation theory liability
by disclosing his intention to use confidential information, it
confirms that the deception inheres in the undisclosed use of
information, in breach of a duty not to do so.

[Flull disclosure forecloses liability under

the misappropriation theory . . . . [I]1f the

fiduciary discloses to the source that he

plans to trade on the nonpublic information,

there is no “deceptive device” and thus no

S 10 (b) violation—although the

fiduciary-turned-trader may remain liable

under state law for breach of a duty of

loyalty.
Id. at 655; see also id. at 659 n.9 (“[T]he textual requirement of
deception precludes § 10(b) liability when a person trading on the
basis of nonpublic information has disclosed his trading plans to,
or obtained authorization from, the principal—even though such
conduct may affect the securities markets in the same manner as the
conduct reached by the misappropriation theory.”). In simple

terms, the misappropriator acts deceptively, not merely because he

uses the source’s material, nonpublic information for personal
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benefit, in breach of a duty not to do so, but because he does not
disclose to the source that he intends to trade on or otherwise use
the information.
B

In the context of the misappropriation theory, therefore,
trading on the basis of material, nonpublic information cannot be
deceptive unless the trader is under a legal duty to refrain from
trading on or otherwise using it for personal benefit. Where the
trader and the information source are in a fiduciary relationship,
this obligation arises by operation of law upon the creation of the
relationship. As O’Hagan makes clear, a fiduciary is bound to act
loyally toward the principal, and as a part of the duty of loyalty,
to use property that has Dbeen entrusted to him—including
confidential information—to benefit only the principal and not
himself. See O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652 (“[A] fiduciary’s
undisclosed, self-serving use of a principal’s information to
purchase or sell securities, in breach of a duty of loyalty and
confidentiality, defrauds the principal of the exclusive use of
that information.”). The deception inheres in the fiduciary’s
undisclosed breach of this duty. Specifically, the fiduciary
deceives the principal by acting the part of a faithful agent in
other respects while secretly appropriating the principal’s
confidential information for his own use. Because of the

fiduciary’s duty of loyalty, the principal has a right to expect
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that the fiduciary 1s not trading on or otherwise using the
principal’s confidential information. The fiduciary’s duplicitous
conduct confirms that expectation while the fiduciary 1is
contemporaneously and secretly violating his duty. Thus the
fiduciary’s trading violates the principal’s legitimate and
justifiable expectation that the fiduciary is using the information
only for the principal’s benefit.

Because under O’Hagan the deception that animates the
misappropriation theory involves at its core the undisclosed breach
of a duty not to use another’s information for personal benefit,
there 1s no apparent reason why that duty cannot arise by

agreement.’ Further, recognizing that a duty analogous to the

The court disagrees with Cuban’s assertion that, in 0O’Hagan,
“[t]lhe Court [drew] a clear distinction between fiduciaries and
non-fiduciaries because only a fiduciary would have a duty to make
this disclosure and therefore can be said to have engaged in a
‘deception’ if he does not disclose or abstain from trading.” D.
Reply Br. 2-3 (citing O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 655). Although O’Hagan
is written in terms of fiduciaries and fiduciary relationships,
duties, and obligations, it 1is reasonable to infer that this is
because 0’Hagan was a criminal case that involved the conduct of a
fiduciary. “In this case, the indictment alleged that 0O’Hagan, in
breach of a duty of trust and confidence he owed to his law firm,
Dorsey & Whitney, and to its client, Grand Met, traded on the basis
of nonpublic information regarding Grand Met’s planned tender offer
for Pillsbury common stock. This conduct, the Government charged,
constituted a fraudulent device in connection with the purchase and
sale of securities.” O0O’Hagan , 521 U.S. at 653 (citation omitted).
The Court may simply have intended that its opinion decide the case
without injecting dicta to cover other circumstances in which the
misappropriation theory could apply. But regardless of the reason,
there 1is no indication in O’Hagan that such a fiduciary or
fiduciary-like relationship 1s necessary—as opposed to merely
sufficient—to impose the requisite duty, or 1s otherwise an
essential element of the misappropriation theory.

- 19 -
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fiduciary’s duty of “loyalty and confidentiality” can be created by
agreement fully comports with Chiarella’s teaching that the duty
must arise out of a relationship between specific parties and not
the mere possession of confidential information. The court
therefore concludes that a duty sufficient to support liability
under the misappropriation theory can arise by agreement absent a
preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship.

Indeed, the duty that arises by agreement can be seen as
conferring a stronger footing for imposing liability for deceptive
conduct than does the existence, without more, of a fiduciary or
similar relationship of trust and confidence. In the context of an
agreement, the misappropriator has committed to refrain from
trading on material, nonpublic information. The duty is thus
created by conduct that captures the person’s obligation with
greater acuity than does a duty that flows more generally from the
nature of the parties’ relationship. The misappropriator is held
to terms created by his own agreement rather than to a duty
triggered merely by operation of law due to his relationship with
the information source.

The agreement, however, must consist of more than an express
or implied promise merely to keep information confidential. It
must also impose on the party who receives the information the
legal duty to refrain from trading on or otherwise using the

information for personal gain. With respect to confidential
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information, nondisclosure® and non-use are logically distinct. A
person who receives material, nonpublic information may in fact
preserve the confidentiality of that information while
simultaneously using it for his own gain. Indeed, the nature of
insider trading is such that one who trades on material, nonpublic
information refrains from disclosing that information to the other
party to the securities transaction. To do so would compromise his
advantageous position. See O0’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 656 (“The
misappropriation theory targets information of a sort that
misappropriators ordinarily capitalize upon to gain no-risk profits
through the purchase or sale of securities.”). But although
conceptually separate, both nondisclosure and non-use comprise part
of the duty that arises by operation of law when a fiduciary
relationship is created. Where misappropriation theory liability
is predicated on an agreement, however, a person must undertake,
either expressly or implicitly, both obligations. He must agree to
maintain the confidentiality of the information and not to trade on
or otherwise use it. Absent a duty not to use the information for
personal benefit, there is no deception in doing so. As in the
fiduciary context, the deception occurs when a person secretly

trades on confidential information in wviolation of the source’s

°In this respect, by “nondisclosure” the court means
maintaining the confidentiality of information, not the
nondisclosure of one’s intention to trade on or otherwise use such
information.
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legitimate and justifiable expectation that the recipient will not
do so. Id. at 654 (“Deception through nondisclosure is central to
[this] theory[.]”). This expectation can be created where the
source entrusts a person with confidential information in reliance
on the recipient’s agreement not to disclose the information and
not to wuse 1t for personal gain. The expectation 1is not
unilateral, arising merely from the source’s subjective belief that
the recipient will not trade on the information. It rests on the
recipient’s undertaking of a duty to refrain from doing so as well.
Cf. United States v. Chestman, 947 F.2d 551, 567 (2d Cir. 1991)
(noting, in context of insider trading suit, that “a fiduciary duty
cannot be imposed unilaterally by entrusting a person with
confidential information”); United States v. Reed, 601 F. Supp.
685, 715 (S.D.N.Y.) (reasoning, in same context, that “[t]he mere
unilateral investment of confidence by one party in the other
ordinarily will not suffice to saddle the parties with the
obligations and duties of a confidential relationship”), rev’d on
other grounds, 773 F.2d 477 (2d Cir. 1985). For the recipient then
to exploit the information’s wvalue 1in the securities markets,
without disclosing to the source his intent to do so, violates the
source’s legitimate and justifiable expectation and deceives him.
In short, the recipient’s agreement not to use the source’s
information for personal benefit, combined with his subsequent

undisclosed use of the information for securities trading purposes,
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makes his conduct deceptive under § 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5.’7
Although the court therefore agrees with Cuban that an
agreement must contain more than a promise of confidentiality, the
court disagrees with his contention that, for a person to be held
liable under the misappropriation theory, he must enter into an
agreement that creates a relationship bearing all the hallmarks of

a traditional fiduciary relationship. And the court respectfully

‘Cases decided both before and after 0’Hagan have recognized
that a duty sufficient to support misappropriation theory
liability may arise by agreement. See, e.g., SEC v. Yun, 327 F.3d
1263, 1273 (11th Cir. 2003) (stating that “[o]f course, a breach of
an agreement to maintain business confidences would also suffice”
to yield insider trading liability); United States v. Falcone, 257
F.3d 220, 234 (2d Cir. 2001) (holding that “a fiduciary
relationship, or its functional equivalent, exists only where there
is explicit acceptance of a duty of confidentiality or where such
acceptance may be implied from a similar relationship of trust and
confidence between the parties” (citing Chestman, 947 F.2d at 567-
68)); Chestman, 947 F.2d at 571 (reasoning that “fiduciary status”
could be established by “a pre-existing fiduciary relation or an
express agreement of confidentiality”); Nothern, 598 F.Supp.2d at
175 (holding that SEC’s allegation that person had “expressly

agreed to maintain the confidentiality of . . . information is
sufficient to state a claim that he had a ‘similar relationship of
trust and confidence’”); SEC v. Lyon, 529 F.Supp.2d 444, 452-53

(S.D.N.Y. 2008) (holding that SEC had adequately alleged existence
of predicate duty for misappropriation theory liability by pleading
that purchase agreement and other materials related to PIPE
offering contained confidentiality conditions and provisions,
including requirements that defendants use information for sole
purpose of evaluating possible investment in the offering, and
discovery might reveal that defendants had explicitly accepted the
conditions or that it was customary practice among participants in
private placement market to be bound and abide by such provisions) .
Because none of these cases analyzes the nature of the agreement
that is required for misappropriation theory liability, none is
contrary to the court’s holding today that an agreement must
include both an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of the
information and not to trade on or otherwise use it.
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declines to follow the case Cuban cites in support of this
proposition: United States v. Kim, 184 F.Supp.2d 1006 (N.D. Cal.
2002) . See id. at 1011 (holding that “a similar relationship of
trust and confidence must be characterized by superiority,
dominance, or control”); id. at 1015 (“In the Court’s opinion
an express agreement can provide the basis for misappropriation
liability only if the express agreement sets forth a relationship
with the hallmarks of a fiduciary relationship detailed above.”).
Although no court appears to have analyzed the precise question
that this court examines above—i.e., the nature of an agreement
that can give rise to misappropriation theory liability—some have
disagreed with Kim’s holding that a relationship marked by factors
such as superiority, dominance, or control is required. See, e.g.,
SEC v. Nothern, 598 F.Supp.2d 167, 176 (D. Mass. 2009) (“[A]
‘similar relationship of trust and confidence’ [may] exist[ ] even
in the absence of a scintilla of superiority or dominance[.]”); SEC
v. Kirch, 263 F.Supp.2d 1144, 1150 (N.D. I1ll. 2003) (“[T]he ‘duty
of loyalty and confidentiality’ owed by the outsider . . . to the
person . . . who shared confidential information with him or her
is not limited to fiduciary relationships in the limited
sense that requires such factors as control and dominance on the

8

part of the fiduciary.”). Moreover, 1if an agreement has the

8 The court notes that, in an insider trading case decided by
this court, Judge Lindsay relied in part on the Kim factors to hold
that liability existed under the misappropriation theory. See SEC
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elements necessary to conform to the ©principles of the
misappropriation theory liability recognized in O’Hagan, it should
not be determinative whether the agreement creates a relationship
in which one party 1is superior to, or exercises control or

dominance over, the other.

The conclusion that an agreement imposing duties of
nondisclosure and non-use can support liability under the
misappropriation theory is supported by its consistency with the
purpose of the theory. The misappropriation theory “address[es]
efforts to capitalize on nonpublic information through the purchase
or sale of securities.” O0O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652. It is “designed
to ‘protec[t] the integrity of the securities markets against
abuses by “outsiders” to a corporation who have access to
confidential information that will affect thl[e] corporation’s
security price when revealed, but who owe no fiduciary or other
duty to that corporation’s shareholders.’” Id. at 653 (quoting

Brief for United States 14). “The theory is . . . well tuned to an

v. Kornman, 391 F.Supp.2d 477, 488-89 (N.D. Tex. 2005) (Lindsay,
J.) . But wunlike 1in Kim, Judge Lindsay was not explicitly
addressing whether factors such as superiority, dominance, or
control were required for liability under the misappropriation
theory. Instead, he relied on Kim and other cases 1in
“consider[ing] the indicia giving rise to a fiduciary or fiduciary-
like relationship in the arena of securities fraud.” Id. at 486.
In other words, he assumed that such a relationship was necessary
for misappropriation theory liability, and he relied on Kim and
similar cases to determine whether such a relationship had been
adequately pleaded.
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animating purpose of the Exchange Act: to insure honest securities
markets and thereby promote investor confidence.” Id. at 658.
“Although informational disparity is inevitable in the securities
markets, investors likely would hesitate to venture their capital
in a market where trading based on misappropriated nonpublic
information is unchecked by law.” Id. The goal of protecting the
integrity of the securities markets and promoting investor
confidence would be achieved Jjust as effectively by enforcing
duties of nondisclosure and non-use that arise by agreement as by
enforcing duties that flow from the nature of the relationship
between the information source and the misappropriator. In fact,
the converse 1s also true: investors likely would hesitate to
venture their capital if they knew that while a corporate outsider
in a fiduciary relationship could not trade based on
misappropriated nonpublic information, an outsider who had actually
agreed with the source not to trade on such information, but was
not a fiduciary, could do so.
VI

The court next addresses whether the SEC has adequately
alleged that Cuban entered into an agreement sufficient to create
the duty necessary to establish misappropriation theory liability.
State common law can impose such a duty, provided Cuban entered
into an express or implied agreement with Mamma.com not to disclose

material, nonpublic information about the PIPE offering and not to
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trade on or otherwise use the information. The court concludes
that the SEC’s complaint is deficient in this critical respect.

Regarding the telephone <call during which the alleged
agreement was made, the SEC merely alleges that Cuban “agreed that
he would keep whatever information the CEO intended to share with
him confidential”; that in reliance on that agreement, the CEO
informed him of the PIPE offering; and that Cuban expressed
displeasure at this news and, at the end of the call, stated “Well,
now I'm screwed. I can’t sell.” Compl. 9 14. Thus while the SEC
adequately pleads that Cuban entered into a confidentiality
agreement, it does not allege that he agreed, expressly or
implicitly, to refrain from trading on or otherwise using for his
own benefit the information the CEO was about to share. Although
at one point Cuban allegedly stated that he was “screwed” because
he “[could not] sell,” this appears to express his belief, at least
at that time, that it would be illegal for him to sell his
Mamma.com shares based on the information the CEO had provided.
This statement, however, cannot reasonably be understood as an
agreement to sell based on the information. Further, the complaint
asserts no facts that reasonably suggest that the CEO intended to
obtain from Cuban an agreement to refrain from trading on the
information as opposed to an agreement merely to keep it
confidential.

Nor is it sufficient that the complaint indicates that the
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executive chairman of Mamma.com may have expected that Cuban would
not sell until the PIPE was publicly announced. See id. at { 15
(“'[Cuban] said he would sell his shares (recognizing that he was
not able to do anything until we announce the equity)[.]’” (quoting
email of executive chairman to Mamma.com board)); id. at 9 20
(“Y[Cuban’s] answers were: he would not invest, he does not want
the company to make acquisitions, he will sell his shares which he

7

can not [sic] do until after we announce.’” (quoting second email
of executive chairman to board)). Outside a fiduciary or
fiduciary-like relationship, a mere unilateral expectation on the
part of the information source—one that is not based on the other
party’s agreement to refrain from trading on the
information——cannot create the predicate duty for misappropriation
theory liability.
VII

Having determined that the SEC’s complaint is insufficient to

plead a duty arising by agreement, the court turns finally to the

parties’ arguments regarding whether the SEC can rely on Rule 10b5-

2(b) (1) to impose the required duty.’

°In light of the court’s conclusion on this issue, it need not
address at length Cuban’s contention that Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) applies
only to family and other personal relationships, i.e., non-business
relationships. Were the court to reach this question, however, it
would join the other courts that reject such a limitation on Rule
10b5-2 (b) (1)’s reach. See, e.g., Nothern, 598 F.Supp.2d at 174-75.
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A

The SEC’s rulemaking authority under § 10 (b) is bounded by the
statute’s proscription of conduct that is manipulative or
deceptive. The SEC cannot by rule make unlawful conduct that does
not fall into one of these categories. See 0’Hagan, 521 U.S. at
651 (“Liability under Rule 10b-5, our precedent indicates, does not
extend beyond conduct encompassed by § 10(b)’s prohibition.”)
(citing Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 214 (1976);
Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver,
N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 173 (1994)); id. at 655 (“[Section] 10(b) is
not an all-purpose breach of fiduciary duty ban; rather, it trains
on conduct involving manipulation or deception.” (citing Santa Fe
Indus., 430 U.S. at 473-76)) . In the context of the
misappropriation theory, the SEC cannot by rule predicate liability
on an agreement that lacks the necessary component of an obligation
not to trade on or otherwise use confidential information for
personal Dbenefit. As the court has explained, it 1is the
undisclosed use of such information, in breach of a duty not to use
it for personal benefit, that makes the conduct deceptive under
§ 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5.

B

In considering whether Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) can serve as the

basis for misappropriation theory 1liability, the court first

examines its plain meaning. Courts in the Fifth Circuit “interpret
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regulations in the same manner as statutes, looking first to the
regulation’s plain language. Where the language is unambiguous,
[courts] do not look beyond the plain wording of the regulation to
determine meaning.” Anthony v. United States, 520 F.3d 374, 380
(5th Cir. 2008). “The appropriate starting point when interpreting
any statute is its plain meaning.” United States v. Elrawy, 448
F.3d 309, 315 (5th Cir. 2006) (citing United States v. Ron Pair
Enters., Inc., 489 U.S. 235, 242 (1989)). “The plain meaning of
legislation should be conclusive, except in the ‘rare cases [in
which] the literal application of a statute will produce a result
demonstrably at odds with the intentions of its drafters.’” Ron
Pair Enters., 489 U.S. at 242 (quoting Griffin v. Oceanic
Contractors, Inc., 458 U.S. 564, 571 (1982)).

To determine “the plain meaning of the statute, the court must
look to the particular statutory language at issue, as well as the
language and design of the statute as a whole.” K Mart Corp. V.
Cartier, Inc., 486 U.S. 281, 291 (1988) (citing Bethesda Hosp.
Ass’n. v. Bowen, 485 U.S. 399, 403-05 (1988); Offshore Logistics,
Inc. v. Tallentire, 477 U.S. 207, 220-21 (1986)). “It 1is 1‘a
cardinal principle of statutory construction’ that ‘a statute
ought, wupon the whole, to be so construed that, if it can be
prevented, no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void,
or insignificant.’” TRW Inc. v. Andrews, 534 U.S. 19, 31 (2001)

(quoting Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001)). The court

- 30 -



Case 3:08-cv-02050-D Document 33  Filed 07/17/2009 Page 31 of 35

“must, if possible,

construe a statute to give every word some

operative effect.” Cooper Indus., Inc. v. Aviall Servs., Inc., 543

Uu.s. 157,

503 U.S.

167 (2004) (citing United States v. Nordic Vill.,

30, 35-36 (1992)).

Rule 10b5-2 provides:

Preliminary Note to § 240.10b5-2: This section
provides a non-exclusive definition of
circumstances in which a person has a duty of
trust or confidence for purposes of the
“‘misappropriation” theory of insider trading
under Section 10 (b) of the Act and Rule 10b-5.
The law of insider trading is otherwise
defined by judicial opinions construing Rule
10b-5, and Rule 10b5-2 does not modify the
scope of insider trading law in any other
respect.

(a) Scope of Rule. This section shall apply
to any violation of Section 10(b) of the Act
(15 TU.s.C. § 7873 (b)) and § 240.10b-5
thereunder that 1is based on the purchase or
sale of securities on the basis of, or the
communication of, material nonpublic
information misappropriated in breach of a
duty of trust or confidence.

(b) Enumerated “duties of trust or
confidence.” For purposes of this section, a
“duty of trust or confidence” exists in the
following circumstances, among others:

(1) Whenever a person agrees to maintain
information in confidence;

(2) Whenever the person communicating the
material nonpublic information and the person
to whom it is communicated have a history,
pattern, or practice of sharing confidences,
such that the recipient of the information
knows or reasonably should know that the
person communicating the material nonpublic

- 31 -
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information expects that the recipient will
maintain its confidentiality; or

(3) Whenever a person receives or obtains
material nonpublic information from his or her
spouse, parent, child, or sibling; provided,
however, that the person receiving or
obtaining the information may demonstrate that
no duty of trust or confidence existed with
respect to the information, by establishing
that he or she neither knew nor reasonably
should have known that the person who was the
source of the information expected that the

person would keep the information
confidential, because of the parties’ history,
pattern, or practice of sharing and

maintaining confidences, and because there was
no agreement or understanding to maintain the
confidentiality of the information.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b5-2 (2009).

The court concludes that, by its terms, Rule 10b5-2(b) (1)
attempts to base misappropriation theory liability on an agreement
that lacks an obligation not to trade on or otherwise use
confidential information. The agreement specified in the Rule—"“to
maintain information in confidence”—relates merely to preserving
the confidentiality of the information. The word “maintain”
captures the obligation to keep the information in its existing
state, and the modifying phrase “in confidence” indicates that the
state to be preserved is its confidentiality. Nothing in Rule
10b5-2 (b) (1) requires that the agreement encompass an obligation
not to trade on or otherwise use the information.

That Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) relates to an agreement to preserve

confidentiality is supported by the language and design of Rule
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10b5-2 as a whole. It accords with the interpretation of Rule
10b5-2 (b) (2) and (b) (3), which, like (b) (1), specify circumstances
in which a duty of trust or confidence exists. Rule 10b5-2(b) (2)
creates the duty based on a history, pattern, or practice of
sharing confidences if “the recipient of the information knows or
reasonably should know that the person communicating the material
nonpublic information expects that the recipient will maintain its
confidentiality.” Rule 10b5-2(b) (3) creates a rebuttable rule that
a duty of trust or confidence exists in certain enumerated family
relationships, unless the person demonstrates that “he or she
neither knew nor reasonably should have known that the person who
was the source of the information expected that the person would
keep the information confidential, because of the parties’ history,
pattern, or practice of sharing and maintaining confidences, and
because there was no agreement or understanding to maintain the
confidentiality of the information.” Thus Rule 10b5-2(b) (2) and
(b) (3) also Dbase misappropriation theory 1liability on an
undertaking, express or implied, to maintain confidentiality of
information, but they do not require an undertaking not to trade on
or otherwise use the information for personal benefit.

Because Rule 10b5-2 (b) (1) attempts to predicate
misappropriation theory 1liability on a mere confidentiality
agreement lacking a non-use component, the SEC cannot rely on it to

establish Cuban’s liability under the misappropriation theory. To
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permit liability based on Rule 10b5-2(b) (1) would exceed the SEC’s
§ 10(b) authority to proscribe conduct that 1is deceptive. See
O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 651 (“Liability wunder Rule 10b-5, our
precedent indicates, does not extend beyond conduct encompassed by
§ 10(b)’"s prohibition.”). This 1is because, as the court has
explained, under the misappropriation theory of liability, it is
the wundisclosed use of confidential information for personal
benefit, in breach of a duty not to do so, that constitutes the
deception.
VIIT

Because the SEC has failed to allege that Cuban undertook a
duty to refrain from trading on information about the impending
PIPE offering, and because the SEC cannot rely on the duty imposed
by Rule 10b5-2 (b) (1) alone, Cuban cannot be held liable under the
misappropriation theory of insider trading liability, even
accepting all well-pleaded facts as true and viewing them in the
light most favorable to the SEC. The court therefore grants
Cuban’s motion to dismiss the complaint under Rule 12 (b) (6).

The court will allow the SEC 30 days from the date of this
memorandum opinion and order to file an amended complaint, if the
SEC can allege that Cuban undertook a duty, expressly or
implicitly, not to trade on or otherwise use material, nonpublic

information about the PIPE offering.
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[Iln view of the consequences of dismissal on

the complaint alone, and the pull to decide

cases on the merits rather than on the

sufficiency of pleadings, district courts

often afford plaintiffs at least one

opportunity to cure pleading deficiencies

before dismissing a case, unless it is clear

that the defects are incurable or the

plaintiffs advise the court that they are

unwilling or unable to amend in a manner that

will avoid dismissal.
In re Am. Airlines, Inc., Privacy Litig., 370 F.Supp.2d 552, 567-68
(N.D. Tex. 2005) (Fitzwater, J.) (quoting Great Plains Trust Co. v.
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter & Co., 313 F.3d 305, 329 (5th Cir.
2002)). If the SEC cannot replead as required by today’s decision,

it may so inform the court, and this case will be dismissed with

prejudice.

Cuban’s January 14, 2009 motion to dismiss is granted. The
SEC is granted 30 days from the date of this memorandum opinion and
order to file an amended complaint.

SO ORDERED.

July 17, 2009.

gél DNEG A. ‘FITZWKT"EEQ

CHIEF JUDGE



